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A NOTE FROM THE EDI TOR

In 1984 when | approached Lee Gordy WDOCOV with the idea of docunenting
a history of the Kaw Vall ey Amateur Radio Club for its sixtieth year,
he warned ne there would be problens. Aside fromthe fact that all
charter nmenbers are deceased, he told ne there were few records in the
Cl ub's possession dating beyond the 1970s, since the O ub had not
really had a central location until 1965, and that many earlier records
were destroyed in the fire at the former Red Cross building in the
early 1970s. Nonethel ess, he went to work, and work he did!

To Lee CGordy, who spent hundreds of hours on letters seeking
information, or in interview sessions with individuals and then had the
difficult task of determ ning just what to say and howto say it; to



Lee who kept trying, even when there was a snag where no nore

i nformati on would be forthcom ng, a sinple "Thanks" just doesn't seem
to be enough! It was his determnation to give to the Kaw Val |l ey
Amat eur Radi o C ub an understanding of its past that made this
possi bl e" Lee, the KVARC owes you a great debt!

A big, special thanks to those who took the tinme and effort to either
talk with Lee or to wite or tape information for his use. Wthout
your efforts, this publication would not have been possible! Sources
i nclude: the Anerican Radio Relay League (ARRL), New ngton, CT; Bill
Davi dson WDJLY from Bella Vista, Arkansas; Frank Tayl or WLJL; August
McCol | om WOHS; John Whiffen WOFVMR;, Gene Godsey DOBXJ; Howard Davi s
WKOL and his wife, Anita; Steve Carriger WAOVRS; Dave Ljungdah
WBORZGO, and Maj or Ceneral Ral ph Tice, Adjutant Ceneral of Kansas, al
Topeka residents. In addition to these, many contri buted through
photos or other informative itens left in Club files, and through
casual conversations at various tines, sonetinmes with information
other times with sonme encouragenent when it seemed an inpossible task!

Any history is inconplete: that is, it is inpossible to get al

details exactly as it happened, but we have done our best to make this
as accurate as possible. W hope you find this to be an enlightening
and enjoyable story. After all, it is our story - a story each of us
has added to at one tinme or another! There is no way that all who have
contributed to the club could be nentioned; suffice it to say that

wi thout the efforts of the many individuals who have been involved with
the KVARC in its sixty years, there would be little story to tell.

A part of the rich history of amateur radio awaits you in the foll ow ng
pages. W are proud to be a part of this effort to preserved the days
of "early" amateur radio in Topeka for our future generations, and to
have the opportunity to have this publication added to the archives of
the Kansas State Historical Society.

Darl ene "Dol |l y" Reece NOCBG
KVARC Hi story Project Coordi nator

NOTE OF CLARI FI CATI ON

In the interest of accuracy, callsigns that appear for individuals are
t hose by which they were known at the tine. Callsigns issued by the
Federal Conmuni cations Comri ssion to amateur operators in this area
prior to 1928 consisted of the digit "9" followed by two or three
letters. In 1928, the prefix letter "W was added, and in 1946,

anot her change was made when amateurs in several Mdwestern states
returned to the airways with the "0" digit in their prefix, upon
creation of the tenth call district.

THE EARLY YEARS

Fol ks in Topeka thought 1926 was a good year: Calvin ("Silent Cal")
was in the Wite House, the stock market was starting to clinb,

fl appers had bobbed their hair and shortened their skirts as well, and
a local car dealer was offering the new fully-equi pped Chevrol et coupe
for only $640. Surely things had gone about as far as they could go.
But fortunately for many, things could go a bit further.



Unnoticed by the general public, a fewtinkerers in |ocal workshops had
been assenbling bits of wire, crystals, tubes, and coils. Soon their
dits and dahs and their wavering voi ces were heard on the airways,

using callsigns like "9NL" -- no "W prefixes were assigned before
1928. To supplement their know edge they visited one anothers' shacks
for "eyeball QSGs". It was fromthese contacts that our own

organi zati on, the Kaw Vall ey Radio O ub, was forned.

W bel i eve the KVRC was organi zed sonetinme in 1926, though we do not
know t he nmonth and day of the first neeting they held, nor the exact
nunber present, since all the original nenbers have becone silent keys.
Frank Tayl or, WALJL, who joined the club in 1932, believes that the
charter group consisted of about six to eight nenbers. Auggie MColl om
VOHS, who arrived on the scene about four years later (1936), believes
the figure was closer to ten nmenbers. Through their conbi ned
recollections we did | earn that Joe Deines 9CV, John Am s 9CET, Earl
Johnson 91 CV, and Bill Beasley 9FRC, were anong the founders of the
Club. It was in Novenber 1926, the the Kaw Vall ey Radio C ub received
confirmation fromthe ARRL that they were an affiliated O ub, thus

begi nning a | ong associ ati on, now entering its sixth decade.

For much of its fist forty years, the Club was forced to drift from one
nmeeting place to another, neeting in various public-use facilities.
VWhen Frank WBLJL joined in 1932 the neetings were being held at the
Topeka Chanber of Commerce Hall |ocated at the northwest corner of 7th
and Jackson. Later sites during the 1930s included the downtown Fire
Departnment buil ding and the Police Departnent headquarters at 5th and
Jackson. John Wiiffen VWFMR joined the club in 1938, and recalls of
these early tines:

W& woul d gat her outside of the Police building on the south steps for a
ragchew ng session and then nove inside to a vacant courtroom for our
nmeeting. Afterwards we usually adjourned to a nearby 'watering hole'
to hoist a nug of suds.

Thr oughout the 1930's the Club remamined quite small, by nost estinmates
about twenty to thirty menbers. But small or not, the KVRC was active
in amateur radio affairs. Auggie WBHS, who noved to Topeka from Dodge
Cty, Kansas in 1936, renenbers attending an amateur radi o convention
in Topeka in 1928. The C ub al so sponsored three other M dwest

Di vi sion Conventions in the 1930s. Speaking of the latter, Frank WOLJL
recal | ed:

These were rather small affairs and were held in the Topeka Chanber of
Commerce Hall at 7th and Jackson. About one hundred hans attended each
of these gatherings. They offered a good chance to get acquainted wth
ot her M dwest operators.

Until the m d-1930s nost |local hans built their own rigs. Towards the
end of the decade, however, sone good quality receivers by National and
Hallicrafters had cone on the nmarket. \When it canme to antennae,
however, |ocal hanms were rugged individualists and sone strange
contraptions were hung on poles and house tops. Probably the nopst
common antenna was a center-fed wire dipole, although Auggi e VWHS
fondly recalls when he got his first beamin 1939.



By the latter part of the 1930s, Field Day had becone an established
event for the Kaw Valley Radio Club. The sites that were used incl uded
Lake Shawnee and Billard Ranch to the northeast of town. Initially,
field stations were battery powered, but in 1939 a portable gasoline-
power ed generator was purchased fromthe Santa Fe Railroad "for a
song"”. This durable unit has proven its worth over the years and is
still in use by the d ub.

During the late 1930s a second radio group forned | ocally, operating
under various names includi ng Topeka Radi o Amat eurs Associ ati on ( TRAA)
and Topeka Amateur Radi o Associ ation (TARA), before changi ng the name
to Topeka Amateur Radi o Operators (TARO in 1939. This group of
amateurs was fairly active, not only as operators but socially as well,
and also affiliated with the Anerican Radio Relay League. This

organi zati on, whose book of mnutes from 1939 to 1946 was acquired in

t he 1980s, includes the names of many who were active in the KVRC as
wel | and shows a group of amateur operators who net "every ot her
Wednesday"” and continued to try to |learn nore each time about operating
and equi pnent. These operators maintained a working relationship with
KVRC, apparently even appointing a Liaison to the KVRC and the two
groups offered invitations back and forth to one anothers' neetings,
and to shared Field Days. After Wrld War |1, when amateurs were once
again allowed to operate, this society noved to offer its tangible
assets to the KVRC, dissolving its organization (1946).

THE FORTI ES

In 1940, the KVRC played a major role in hel ping the Topeka Fire
Departnment to becone the first such organization in this country to
have two-way radi o equipnment for all of its fire-fighting apparatus.
John Whiffen VOFMR worked with Earl Johnson VWOICV to devel op and test a
10-meter nobile unit. The conpleted rig was denonstrated to Fire Chief
W1 Iliam Cawker. Chief Cawker was so inpressed that he recommended its
adoption to the city comm ssion. Necessary noni es were approved and

t he conmuni cati ons network becanme fully operational the follow ng year

Wth the start of Wirld War |1 on Decenber 7, 1941, the FCC i nposed a
"black out™ on all amateur radio operation in this country. Many KVRC
menbers, along with mllions of their countrymen nmarched off to war.
>From the records of the Topeka Amateur Radi o Operators (TARO, sone
attenpts between the two organi zati ons were nmade to get the FCC to

all ow hanms to continue to operate locally on the "2-and-one-half-neter-
band". However, two weeks later, it was reported that the FCC had
"refused to authorize a list of stations submtted for authorization in
Cvilian Defense", despite the fact that the list was signed by
Topeka's Mayor, a Mayor Warren. It appears that, after attenpts to
keep sone frequencies for amateur use had fail ed, both organizations
virtually closed down "for the duration”

Wth the end of hostilities in 1945, the ban on amateur radi o was
lifted and the KVRC was reactivated. The end to this |long period of

i nposed silence al so marked a change for amateur radio operators in the
M dwestern United States. [In 1945, the tenth radio district was
created by the FCC and all of the Kansas stations' callsigns were
changed to "0" digit. (At that tinme, it was required of operators
moving to a new call district to change their call; therefore, anyone



living in the area was assigned a "0" callsign, often sinply replacing
the former "9" digit.)

John Amis, WOCET, a charter menber and probably the first Secretary of
the Cub, died during the early 1940's. John nust have been an

i nstrunmental nenber of the club; he was Club Secretary at the tinme the
Cl ub conpleted the ARRL-affiliation process, and was an ARRL Field
Appointed Official in at least the early 1930s. As the dub
reactivated in 1946, Earl Johnson WJICV, was instrunmental in getting
John's callsign reassigned to the KVRC as a nenorial call. This
callsign gives to the KVRC the distinctive privilege of possessing a
"Menorial Station" callsign, an honor no | onger possible under current
FCC regul ati ons.

THE FI FTI ES

According to Bill Davidson, WJLY, when he joined the Club in 1952, a
group of about twenty nenbers had resuned neeting at the Police Station
at Fifth and Jackson, through the efforts of Earl Johnson, WICV. The
Cub still did not have a permanent hone or station |ocation, and
during the 1950s the KVRC continued to drift fromplace to place. At
one tine or another, the KVRC called "honme" other sites such as the
Nati onal Guard Arnmory and the basenent of the old hotel on the Security
Benefit Assurance site on the west side of Topeka (now the Menni nger
Foundati on West Canpus).

Lack of a permanent club station location did not deter this group from
continuing to plan and carry out nmany exciting events. In 1952 the
KVRC pl ayed host to the Mdwest Division ARRL Convention. The Kansas
Hotel (now the Kansas Towers) was the site of the gathering for

approxi mately four hundred amateur radi o operators. Thanks in no snal
measure to Auggie's WIHS effectiveness as chairman of the prize
conmittee, the convention was a grand success and went a | ong way
towards putting our Club on the map. The KVRC regularly held hanfests
and conventions in Topeka for area amateurs throughout the 1950s and
1960s, with many hanms in attendance.

In 1954, the KVRC filed Articles of Incorporation with the State of
Kansas for not-for-profit status. This would have included a set of
By-Laws as wel|.

About this tine a statew de novenent got underway to push for
| egislation to authorize the use of callsigns on Kansas autonobile
license tags. Bill WJLY recalls:

Qur Cub wined and dined a lot of |egislators and played a substanti al
role in the bill's ultinmte successful passage.

By the m d-1950s, an increasing array of quality comercial radio gear
had come on the market, but some |ocal hans continued to home-brew and
nmodify their owmn rigs. Bill WJLY went on to say:

In the early and m d-50s, ten nmeters was often used |ike we use two
meters now. A nunber of O ub nmenbers had nobile rigs and we used to
have transmitter hunts on Friday nights.



Toward the end of the 1950s, two-neter equi pnment began to cone on the
market in increasing quantities. Repeaters were still many years off.
CGene CGodsey, KOBXJ, who joined the ub in 1955, recalls:

There were no hand-held sets initially and nost of the base and nobile
units put out about ten to twenty watts. They were crystal controlled
and usual |l y equi pped for the national emergency frequency 147.32 MHz.
These rigs operated on a sinplex basis with two or nore stations
alternately using the sanme frequency.

THE SI XTI ES

The 1960s were a period of great growmh in amateur radio with the
nunber of hans nationally increasing by about eighty thousand. Locally
the KVRC reflected this trend by doubling its menbership during the
decade to about sixty.

It was during this period that the KVRC, after nearly forty years of
wandering fromone neeting place to another, finally found a permanent
hone. In 1965 an arrangenent was concluded with the Anerican Red Cross
wher eby, in exchange for energency conmuni cati ons services, the KVRC
was al |l ocated quarters in the Anerican Red Cross building at 9th and
Western. This nmutually beneficial arrangenent has continued to date,

al t hough a new buil di ng was constructed foll owi ng the devastating fire
that destroyed the ol der building (along with the ub's early records)
in the md-1970s.

Al t hough sone informal weather spotting had been carried out by the
Club earlier, it was not until the 1960s that observation |ocations
were formalized and a two-neter base unit for net control was |ocated
at the U S. Wat her Bureau in Topeka. Ralph Tice, who was the
Supervi sor in Charge of Wather Cbservations at this time, recalls:

The C ub spotters were well organi zed and answered our calls during
many emnergencies including the terrible tornado that struck Topeka the
eveni ng of June 8, 1966.

Maj or Ceneral Tice retired fromthe Wather Bureau after nore than
t hree decades on the job and is now Adjutant General for the Kansas
Nati onal CGuard | ocated in Topeka.

In 1968, Topekans were privileged to have their first FMrepeater to
experiment with when Gary Hof fsomer WQC and Doug Flair KOJOS built a
two-nmeter repeater. The base unit and receive antenna were |located in
t he 3500 bl ock of Croco Road. The repeater used a two-site |location
with the transmitter and its antenna nounted on the city water tower at
11th and Quincy. The equi pnment was all tube gear and put out about
sixty watts using the 146.34/94 MEz. frequencies. About a year or two
later, the original builders plus Gene Godsey KOBXJ, rebuilt the
initial repeater and the frequenci es were changed to 146.22/82 Miz.

THE SEVENTI ES

The decade of the 1970s saw unparal l el ed growh in amateur radio.

nati onal ly the nunmber of operators increased by nore than 110, 000;
locally the KVRC topped the century mark in nenbership before the end
of the decade. It was during this period the C ub underwent a name



change and becane officially known thereafter as the Kaw Val |l ey Amateur
Radio Cub (1979). It was also during this decade that the official
KVARC publication previously known as the BULLETIN, received a new
title: THE TRANSCEI VER

In 1970, the Cub built its first two-nmeter repeater. It operated on
146. 34/ 94 MHz. and was |ocated at the old Arerican Red Cross building
at 9th and Western. The original installation was all hand built and
had a (sultry!) voice I.D. Wirking on it at Friday evening neetings
and during their Sunday coffees, many C ub nenbers gai ned "hands-on"
experience with this Club project. It appears several operators were
involved in this project at different tinmes and levels, with many
unusual ideas tried, giving |local amateurs a quite distinctive
repeater! The receive and transmt antennae were |ocated on the forty-
foot tower at the same site. Wen the present Anerican Red Cross

buil ding at 17th and Lincoln was conpleted a short time later, the
KVARC noved its Club station to its present location and its 146.34/94
MHz. repeater was noved to Stornont-Vail Hospital

Thr oughout the years the C ub had continued to grow and devel op al ong
with Amateur Radio itself; so it was that in 1976, The C ub decided to
celebrate its fiftieth anniversary by hol ding and Open House for the
public. Setting up several stations and displays for the visitors

t hr oughout the basenent of the Anerican Red Cross building, it was an
opportunity to make the public nore aware of the many facets of amateur
radio, as well as the activities of the local operators. A staff
witer for the Topeka Daily Capital who attended the event capsulized
what he | earned of amateur radio by reporting fromthe exhibits thus:

>From crystal set radios to television and conputers, the Kaw Vall ey
Amat eur Radi o G ub has been in Topeka a long tine.

By the m d-70s the A ub was holding Field Day at the Omar Jones
(KOBAU) farmlocated just west of the Rees Fruit Farm On a high site
(known to participants as "Goat HlIl") the stations would be set up
the crank-up tower erected and the portable generator fired up. Lee
CGordy WDOCOV cl early remenbers swatting nosquitoes, scratching

chi ggers, and swapping yarns with other O ub nmenbers when not engaged
in operating or keeping the | og sheets.

By the latter part of the 1970s, it had becone increasingly apparent
that the C ub needed sone type of communications vehicle to neet its
rol e of providing assistance during |ocal disasters. After sone

i nvestigations, Bob G ochowshy KOQ.C and Dave Ljungdahl WBORZO were
of fered a venerabl e Chevy step van by Ken Burgett, Topeka- Shawnee
County Civil Defense Director. The van was noved to Janes MBee's
KCORH back yard and restoration work was begun late in 1979. During
t he next year the van was sanded, prined, and repainted, and an

ext ensi ve nmechani cal overhaul was carried out. Following this the
interior was conpletely refurni shed and conmuni cati ons equi pnent was
installed. The conpleted vehicle, named AMCOM 1 ( Avat eur

COMmuni cations Unit nunber 1) is recognized by nane to nearly al
public service agencies in Shawnee County.

Organi zationally, the ub as far as we know, operated for nobst of its
first thirty years with nuch the sane Byl aws as when it started. In
1954, the Cub filed Articles of Incorporation with the Kansas



Secretary of State. In 1978 the KVRC Board of Directors appointed the
committee to update the bylaws. After many hours of work and

di scussion, the newly-witten Byl ans were adopted by the Cub the

foll owi ng year (1979), and are still in effect today.

THE El GHTI ES

As the 1980s dawned, it becane apparent that the C ub needed to inprove
its two-nmeter repeater facilities. The aging 146.34/94 repeater was
retired and Steve Carriger WAOVRS, with the assistance of other dub
menbers, built the two replacenments: 144.85/145.45 MHz. and the
144. 67/ 145.27 MHz. The repeaters were built at an out-of-pocket cost
of about $150 each, with sonme nmaterial furnished by the Topeka- Shawnee
County Civil Defense. The 145.45 repeater antenna is |ocated on the
Northern Hills water tower at 62nd and Rochester Road, while the 145.27
repeater replaced the old 146.94 repeater, atop Stornont-Vail Regiona
Medi cal Center.

In 1981 the Cub al so constructed a portable 146.34/.94 repeater for
energency and di saster site use, which was nounted on the O ub tower
trailer. It is a solid-state unit except for the final and drive tubes
and runs about ten watts out.

The 1980s found the KVARC hol ding Field Day each year at a site on the
east side of Lake Shawnee. Usually we have operated at |least two field
stations plus the HF equiprment in AMCOM 1. The highlight of each
outing has been the Saturday evening picnic for all amateurs and their
famlies. Also in the 1980s, the practice of the fifties, the "Fox-
hunt s" has been revived. Using VHF (two-neter) and sonetinmes ten
meters, operators could be seen around Topeka on Sunday afternoons,
wavi ng antennas and scratching their heads! To encourage the |ost,
picnics were often held at the end of the hunt, where sonetines
antennas that did not performas well as expected were used to roast
hot dogs!

wi th increasing technol ogy has cone an increasing diversity of
interests. An amateur radio operator in the eighties has many areas of
activity to explore, and the KVARC has continued to try to be that
general interest Cub it started out to be so many years ago. When the
Space Shuttle flight of WoLFL offered amateurs the opportunity to work
his space shuttle station, the KVARC was there, attenpting to work him
fromAMCOM 1 in the parking | ot of Washburn University, as were

t housands of M dwest operators at the sane tine! Though he was unable
to recognize any area calls nmade to his station, many area operators
were el ated to have even heard his two-watt two-neter signal from so
many miles above!

Interest in amateur tel evision has rekindled in the Topeka area as
well. 1In 1984 and 1985, facilities and equi pnent were secured to be
able to re-transmt the weather radar for use at the Energency
Qperating Center in the basenent of the Shawnee County Courthouse.

Wth the possibility of being able to received the radar at a nmonment's
noti ce, many amateurs have becone interested in ATV as well.

Currently, two different |ocations are on line and ready to provide the
current radar picture during stormwatches. Wth the additions of ATV
stations and packet radio (digital) stations in the area, the amateur



community continues to offer new experiences and challenges to all its
partici pants.

The 1980s have brought many opportunities for area amateurs to provide
conmuni cations for the various public service events annually held in
the area. Fromthe renowned Topeka Ti nman Tri at hal on and t he Washburn
Uni versity Boat Regatta to the American Lung Associ ation's Breathe
Easy- Run Easy, the KVARC has many requests each year for their

assi stance, and the Club seldom has trouble getting volunteers. Wth
t hese opportunities to practice our readiness skill, it is no smal
wonder that Topeka amateurs were highly praised for their

responsi veness and abilities at the tinme of the 1983 Topeka tornado,
whi ch destroyed several hundred hones in southeast Topeka. Wth storm
spotters already in the field, AMCOM 1 was requested by the Sheriff's
Ofice and in place at the nost sizeable disaster site within mnutes.
Amat eurs were asked to aid in damage assessnment survey the follow ng
day, and with our aid, a job expected to take seventy-two hours was
conpleted in less than twenty-four hours.

The KVARC sponsored several Novice Licensing classes throughout the
1980s. Many of these were held at the American Red Cross, but by 1984,
room schedul ing conflicts nmade this arrangenent undesirable. In
January 1986, followi ng the reconmendati on of and Education Commi ttee,
a formal class of instruction was initiated in conjunction with the
Conti nui ng Education Division of the Topeka Public Schools. The

Amat eur Radi o class, neeting two nights per week for ten weeks at
Topeka Hi gh School, has already produced several enthusiastic
operators, and introduced several others to amateur radi o and the Kaw
Val l ey Amateur Radio Cub as well.

And so the search for our "roots" draws to a close for now Fromits
hunbl e begi nni ngs sixty years ago, the Kaw Valley Amateur Radio O ub
has grown to becone an active organi zation of nore than 130 nenbers
sharing a common bond of interest in amateur radio. Wth the rich and
varied past this organi zati on has experi enced, we can only hope to see
even greater gains in the com ng decades. The hobby itself, with its
various facets, nust depend on each one of us, each with our own
interests, skills, and knowl edge that we bring with us to the hobby, to
realize these gains.



